# Carnegie

PAPERS

SMALL
ENTERPRISES
AND ECONOMIC
POLICY

Anders Åslund Simon Johnson



RUSSIAN AND EURASIAN PROGRAM

Number 43 March 2004 © 2004 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from the Carnegie Endowment.

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace 1779 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 Phone: 202-483-7600

Fax: 202-483-1840 www.ceip.org

# **Carnegie Papers**

Carnegie Papers present new research by Endowment associates and their collaborators from other institutions. The series includes new time-sensitive research and key excerpts from larger works in progress. Comments from readers are most welcome; please reply to the authors at the address above or by e-mail to pubs@ceip.org.

# **About the Authors**

**Anders Åslund** is director of the Russian and Eurasian Program at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. **Simon Johnson** is associate professor of economics at the Sloan School of Business at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

# **CONTENTS**

Abstract
Importance of Small Enterprises
One Optimal and One Suboptimal Equilibrium
Nature of Equality
Costs Imposed by Government
Lump-Sum Tax
Politics of Small Enterprise Promotion
Taxation and Glass Ceilings
Conclusion
References
Notes

# **ABSTRACT**

Institutions such as strong property rights and the rule of law are important for both long-run economic performance and short-run volatility. Developing good institutions is generally viewed as a desirable goal, but there is no agreed road map for such changes.

This paper suggests that, at least for former communist countries, the right way to begin is by lowering the barriers to entry into the formal sector for small-scale entrepreneurs. Taxation, regulation, and establishing property rights must be taken together. A good way to cut this Gordian knot in one stroke is through moving to a low lump-sum tax on small business. Lower taxes have a positive direct effect and an additional indirect benefit of lowering regulatory burdens and corruption. Former communist countries that have implemented such taxes have quickly created a large small-scale business sector.

These policies have economic advantages, but their most important effect is to change the political equilibrium, creating a powerful force for further institutional improvement.

RECENT EXPERIENCE IN EASTERN EUROPE, EAST ASIA, AND SOUTH AMERICA supports the idea that institutions—such as an effective judiciary, protection of property rights, and more specific laws—are key to both long-term economic development and recovery from crises.¹ The idea that institutions matter to some extent is well established and can be traced back at least to North and Thomas (1973), Jones (1981), North (1981), and Olson (1982), with key elements going back as far as Adam Smith. A great deal of empirical evidence now suggests that "better" institutions are a principal determinant of financial development (La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes, Shleifer, and Vishny 1997, 1998), per capita income today (Hall and Jones 1999; Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson 2001), and growth over the past thirty years (Knack and Keefer 1995; Mauro 1995; Acemoglu, Johnson, Robinson, and Thaicharoen 2003; Johnson, McMillan, and Woodruff 2002). In addition, although there is no predetermination, institutions often persist for a long time (Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson 2002). In countries such as Argentina, weak institutions appear to be an important cause of economic volatility and repeated crises (Acemoglu, Johnson, Robinson, and Thaicharoen 2003).

The implications of these findings for policy are still being debated (see, for example, Frankel 2002). How can a poor country substantially improve its institutions? Does it have to take a long time, or can it be done all of a sudden? Certainly, we do not yet know enough to "unpackage" institutions and advise countries on what exactly to do or not do.<sup>2</sup> There is no magic bullet, nor is it likely that one size—or type of institution—fits all. This paper suggests, however, that there is one policy recommendation on which we may agree for postcommunist countries: lower the barriers to entry for new small businesses and the costs of running these firms by switching to a simple low lump-sum tax.

This paper compares the importance of small enterprises in various economies and discusses how countries can fall into a "bad" equilibrium with low official activity by small firms. It then scrutinizes the idea and practice of equal treatment of all kinds of enterprises and examines in more detail how governments impose costs on small firms. In the final sections, it explains how lump-sum taxes would work, considers the politics of small enterprise promotion, and discusses taxation and glass ceilings.

# IMPORTANCE OF SMALL ENTERPRISES

Much of the world's economic production is very small scale: one or two people operating "under the radar" as individuals rather than as an organized business. A major problem for economic growth is how to persuade these people to invest, employ others, and, preferably, pay taxes. It is primarily

## Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Olivier Blanchard, Peter Boone, and Anne Krueger for their helpful comments.

the risk of expropriation by government and powerful individuals that constrains entrepreneurial investment and causes business people to stay very small scale and completely unofficial in many countries. This expropriation risk depends on taxation, regulation, and strength of property rights. At least in some countries, national and local bureaucrats intentionally make tax and regulation systems complicated to ensure that almost no one can fully comply, rendering entrepreneurs vulnerable to extortion and expropriation.

Small enterprises are of critical importance to the functioning of an economy and thus economic development. In the developed economies of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), about 60 percent of gross domestic product (GDP) is generated by small enterprises, that is, enterprises with a maximum of 50 employees (OECD 2002). It is easy to understand why this is the case. A modern market economy consists of thousands of markets that require millions of enterprises to be reasonably competitive and efficient. A large number of small enterprises guarantee a high degree of competition, and the variety of economic activities is so great that as many enterprises as possible are needed in a modern economy. Semideveloped countries, such as in Latin America or the postcommunist region, have far fewer small enterprises, which is one of their major structural weaknesses (De Soto 2000; World Bank 2002).

The importance of small enterprises is probably not only strictly economic but also political. If a country has few small enterprises, its policies tend to benefit large enterprises and maintain the low number of small enterprises, which hampers the productivity of that country. Conversely, in countries with many small-scale entrepreneurs, their number stays large. There are few cases in which, once established, entrepreneurs have been persecuted—the notable exceptions of Soviet Russia in the 1930s and parts of Eastern Europe after 1945 are all the more extraordinary because they are so unusual.

The size of the small enterprise sector varies greatly within countries and even across regions within countries. Italy is a classic case with abundant small enterprises in the often communist-ruled Emilia in the north and a lack of entrepreneurship in the conservative south. Here, a standard argument is that historical differences in social capital exist (Putnam 1992), although the idea that areas with low levels of trust in the past can never experience cooperation, trust, and entrepreneurship in the future runs counter to the evidence (Locke 2002).

Under communism, Poland had many small private enterprises, whereas Czechoslovakia had virtually none. This was the case even though, between the world wars, Czechs had been famous for their small entrepreneurs and most small entrepreneurs in Poland were Jewish and were either exterminated or had emigrated between 1940 and 1950 (Åslund 1985).

A recent World Bank study (2002, 41) of transition economies notes that the postcommunist transition countries, all of which started with few small enterprises, can now be divided into two very different groups. One group (the Czech Republic, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, and Poland) obtains 50–60 percent of GDP from small enterprises, almost as much as in the industrialized West. The other group (Russia and Kazakhstan), on the contrary, generates only 20 percent of GDP from small enterprises.

These observations suggest three points. First, relatively small institutional differences can produce large differences in the size of the small enterprise sector. Second, if institutions do not change, the share of small enterprises can persist in being very different across otherwise similar

economic areas for long periods of time. And, third, limited changes in economic policy can quickly change the size of the small enterprise sector.

## ONE OPTIMAL AND ONE SUBOPTIMAL EQUILIBRIUM

It seems likely that there are two equilibria in the political economy game of postcommunist transition.<sup>3</sup> Several transition countries seem to have got stuck at a suboptimal equilibrium with about 20 percent of GDP coming from the small enterprise sector, whereas others have established an optimal equilibrium with around 50–60 percent of GDP.

These differing realities may be seen as two alternative equilibria: one optimal, the other suboptimal. The aim of government policy should be to move the economy from the suboptimal to the optimal equilibrium.

However, small enterprises are not likely to push for better conditions for small enterprises on their own. They are easily exposed to harassment by the authorities and unlikely to engage in collective action, as their costs are probably greater than their gains (Olson 1971). Perhaps even more important, small enterprises are quite comfortable when entrepreneurs are moderately repressed, because the monopoly rents they can extract due to the limited competition are likely much greater than the additional official costs and bribes they may have to pay.

At a critical threshold, however, small-scale entrepreneurs can no longer extract monopoly rents but have to accept being price takers, cutting their costs and lobbying for lower costs imposed on them by government. At this point, these small entrepreneurs will have become so politically influential that they cannot easily be persecuted. In moving from a suboptimal to an optimal equilibrium, the key issue is to raise the number of small enterprises above the critical level.

The World Bank (2002) suggests that the critical mass is reached when officially registered small entrepreneurs contribute around 40 percent of the officially registered GDP. This may be seen as the political "tipping point" for bringing small entrepreneurs into the official economy. If the level of tax-paying entrepreneurship rises above this level, small-scale entrepreneurs become politically much stronger and much harder to expropriate, and their behavior changes. But while small businesses remain below this level, they are politically vulnerable to expropriation, which, in turn, encourages them to stay small.

The logical conclusion is that affirmative action for small enterprises is to be recommended until the small enterprise sector is well above that threshold. This runs counter to one of the standard principles of good economic policy, namely, that all enterprises should be given equal treatment in regulation and taxation.

# **NATURE OF EQUALITY**

This principle of equal treatment for all enterprises in regulation and taxation is quite dubious because it is very difficult to implement. In his novel *Animal Farm*, George Orwell made the point that "some animals are more equal than others." That is all the more true among enterprises.

A standard economic principle is that all enterprises should be treated equally through proportional taxation, but the same treatment by the government imposes very different costs on enterprises of different sizes, and the relevant equality is relative rather than absolute. More often than not, regulation and taxation involve great economies of scale. For example, statistical reporting requirements are similar for all enterprises, implying disproportionately greater overhead cost for small enterprises. Complex taxation is likely to benefit large enterprises, which can use more tax deductions than small enterprises. Regulation and inspection of enterprises do not rise in relation to size and thus imply economies of scale. Nor do legal costs rise with the size of an enterprise.

In fact, all OECD countries embrace this understanding of equality, as an OECD (1999) document puts it:

All OECD countries apply special measures, including tax measures, intended to improve the economic and technological environment of small enterprises, and to facilitate their establishment and growth. The most important reasons cited for having such policies were that small and medium-sized businesses face proportionately higher costs; that there are market imperfections; that there are broader benefits to society going beyond the economic benefits; and that there are important social goals involved.

There are many reasons to presume that discrimination against small enterprises is greater in transition countries. Corruption is generally greater in less developed countries (Treisman 2000), and that is certainly true of transition countries (Transparency International 2002). Moreover, corruption is by no means equal in its treatment but aggravates the mistreatment of small enterprises. This is all the more the case in transition countries subject to serious "state capture," that is, politically powerful enterprises use the inequality of the state to gain benefits for themselves (Hellman 1998; Hellman, Jones, Kaufmann, and Schankerman 2000; Hellman, Jones, and Kaufmann 2000).

In reality, small entrepreneurs have been subject to massive discrimination in many postcommunist countries, as is clearly shown in a number of enterprise surveys of transition economies (EBRD 1999, 2002). In Ukraine in 1999, the International Finance Corporation (1999) found that small enterprises estimated their average tax load at a hefty 30 percent of gross sales.

There are, thus, strong reasons to believe that any regulation or taxation that is meant to be equal for all enterprises discriminates against small enterprises. Logically, the state should balance this bias against small enterprises, which is harmful to overall economic welfare, with affirmative action for small enterprises. The more corrupt the state, the stronger the affirmative action needs to be. Therefore, stronger affirmative action is needed in transition countries than in OECD countries.

Ironically, a major threat against small enterprise promotion is the international community of economists, which insists that affirmative action is wrong and that all enterprises should be subject to the same rules, even if they happen to be discriminatory. Unfortunately, both the IMF and the World Bank hold this view. Successful liberalization of small enterprises has typically occurred when and where common sense has dominated over traditional economic thinking.

The OECD, which is the international organization that has taken the greatest interest in small enterprises, fails to draw these conclusions itself. It has formulated policy recommendations for small enterprise development in transition countries that amount to a long laundry list of what should be done a little bit differently (OECD 1999).

### COSTS IMPOSED BY GOVERNMENT

The costs that a government imposes on an enterprise can be divided into three major categories: taxation, regulation, and property rights. Taxation is the most easily understood and the most transparent cost of government. Regulation is the most elusive and includes restrictions on what enterprises are allowed to do (that is, administrative procedures, inspections, and sanctions if the restrictions are not observed). Property rights involve rules regarding the registration of property, including licensing, and the legal defense of property rights.

However, there is a great deal of overlap between these three categories. Penalties for violations of regulations also have a fiscal function, and licensing has a regulatory and fiscal function. The standard ambition is to simplify all three functions—a task that tends to be remarkably difficult. For instance, Russia has undertaken numerous legal changes to boost small enterprises, but so far the results are absent. When the authorities lose one lever of interference, they deploy another one more intensely, because their incentives have not changed (CEFIR 2002).

For instance, in Sweden, small entrepreneurs have dominated the southern forests for the last century, while the central forests have been dominated by company towns and have lacked small enterprises. The dearth of small enterprise in central Sweden appears to be primarily the result of one local act, namely zoning meant to reserve scarce labor for the big corporations. Without land for an enterprise, no tax relief will help.

In the stimulation of small enterprises, no link is stronger than its weakest link, and taxation, regulation, and property right defense are all connected. The crucial question is how to diminish all three government costs, preferably in one blow. The ambition should be to find one policy measure that excludes dangerous influences, is politically acceptable, and is tenacious enough to boost the small enterprise sector over the critical hurdle.

Regulatory costs appear proportionate to taxation. In a survey of new manufacturing firms in Poland, Romania, Russia, Slovakia, and Ukraine carried out in 1997, Johnson, McMillan and Woodruff (2000) found that the main concerns of entrepreneurs in Russia and Ukraine were taxes and court services. Although total tax collection as a share of GDP is higher in Central Europe, entrepreneurs there paid 16 percent of their sales in total taxes, whereas Russian and Ukrainian entrepreneurs paid 24 percent. Interestingly, the Russian entrepreneurs also paid 50 percent more bribes as a share of their turnover than their Central European colleagues, and the Ukrainian entrepreneurs paid 75 percent more. These results suggest that taxes and bribes are closely correlated. If this were generally true, corruption or informal regulatory costs would be best reduced through lower taxes.

Millions of entrepreneurs all over the world are stuck in the underground economy, being able to do little because they are deprived of legal property rights (De Soto 1989, 2000). With weak property rights, any investment is at risk; as such, entrepreneurs have no recourse in court. Nor can they borrow money from a bank or mortgage their assets. Because they operate illegally, they are also more vulnerable to organized crime and extortion.

Some experts formulate this problem very differently. Many focus on access to capital, but that is almost certainly a secondary issue, whereas property rights are primary (see Johnson, McMillan, and Woodruff 2002). After all, in the early transition the vast majority of all investment comes

from retained earnings (EBRD 1999). The ambition should be to make the legal registration of an enterprise as simple as possible.

This can be described as the minimization of three separate costs of government:  $C_t$  = taxation (costs),  $C_r$  = regulation costs, and  $C_p$  = property rights costs, that is,

min 
$$f = c_t + c_r + c_p$$
. (1)

However, we have already argued that,

$$C_r = kC_t$$

where k is a constant < 1. Ideally, the registration of an enterprise should be part of taxation, which means that  $c_p$ =0. Then (1) simply becomes

$$\min f = c_t (1+k).$$

# **LUMP-SUM TAX**

If any interactions between state and enterprise cause corruption, these contacts must be minimized, and a low, fixed lump-sum tax appears to be the best solution. It exempts an enterprise from all regulations and inspections and also performs the function of enterprise registration.

Lump-sum taxes have been tested extensively. They boosted the private sector in Poland and safeguarded it in East Germany under communism (Åslund 1985). Leszek Balcerowicz's blanket liberalization of small entrepreneurship in Poland in 1990 allowed anybody to do any kind of business individually without paying any taxes, which gave an enormous stimulus to small-scale entrepreneurship (Sachs 1993). It has also worked well in Ukraine since 1998 (Thiessen 2001) and in Kyrgyzstan since 1998. Consequently, small enterprises have surged explosively in these countries, whereas less radical variants have had little or no effect in many other countries.

One example that shows both of these trends is Russia in 1992. The number of independent entrepreneurs skyrocketed with a blanket liberalization without any tax payments in January 1992, but this liberalization was undone by May 1992, and the development of small enterprises was capped (Åslund 1995). This failure can be given alternative interpretations. Local authorities in big cities reversed the liberalization because they were too strong and lacked financial incentives to support new small entrepreneurs. Established traders strongly opposed irregular competition, and the beneficiaries (both traders and customers) were mainly visitors to the big cities. The conclusion is that a critical mass of entrepreneurs is vital.

Successful lump-sum taxes have typically been limited to single entrepreneurs working with family members or a maximum of a couple of employees. For slightly larger enterprises of up to ten employees, a single low turnover tax has been applied. No bookkeeping is required, and the interaction with authorities is truly minimized.<sup>4</sup> These benefits must focus on microenterprises, or they will not be politically acceptable, and serious economic distortions may arise. By and large, state revenues from microenterprises will be a sheer addition, as these enterprises either did not exist before or did not pay taxes.

A lump-sum tax is regressive by its very nature. Most governments prefer progressive tax systems to ensure redistribution from rich to poor. Arguably, these progressive tax systems have some such effects in countries with high per capita income, but in most of the world, these tax systems are a major reason why poor people cannot build sustainable businesses. The illusion of progressivity in taxation must be sacrificed for the reality of development: Low lump-sum taxes *can* help the poorest people in poor countries.

This policy may be described as selective radical deregulation of microenterprises to counter state failure, which especially harms small enterprises. Much of small enterprise promotion, however, has focused on real or perceived market failures, notably in capital and credit markets, or amounted to sheer industrial policy. One case in point is the extensive small enterprise promotion in India, which has been characterized by protectionism, subsidies, and regulation. Small enterprises have been exempted from excise duties, but their taxation and regulation have not been simplified. They have been offered subsidized credits, a plethora of promotion programs, and the exclusive right to produce many products, but, as with most industrial policy, it has not worked (Mohan 2002). A criticism of such policies is no stricture of lump-sum taxation.

### POLITICS OF SMALL ENTERPRISE PROMOTION

The main cause of resistance to small enterprise promotion is monopoly rents, benefiting existing enterprises and government officials, at the population's expense. The problem is overregulation and overtaxation, leaving state officials with powers too great and the public with powers too small. More competition can drive prices down and thus monopoly rents. Then corruption will shrink because entrepreneurs can no longer afford high bribe taxes. Small enterprise promotion is a major means of controlling corruption.

In many countries, local officials are the main beneficiaries from the maltreatment of small businessmen. In Russia, local officials have proved the most reluctant to lower barriers to entry for new firms: City and provincial bureaucrats of various kinds make good money from shaking down existing firms, and it is easier to extract more if limited competition keeps profits high (OECD 2002). But local government can be enticed into wanting small business development, as has been the case in South Korea and much of China.

A mixture of sticks and carrots can change the behavior of local officials. First, successful lump-sum taxation must be set centrally, because local officials easily drive up taxes to an excessive level (Åslund 1985). Second, local authorities have an incentive to support small enterprises if they receive part of the tax revenue they generate (Shleifer and Treisman 2000). Third, ideally, government officials should be prohibited from even visiting enterprises, to clarify the divide between state and enterprise and to reduce their opportunities to extract tribute. Fourth, the number of underpaid officials needs to be cut, resulting in fewer bureaucrats but with higher salaries. Fifth, the legal power of officials should be reduced, for instance, by decriminalizing tax violations, thereby depriving tax officials of the opportunity to arrest anybody at will.

The attitudes of businesses vary between small and large businesses, but the difference might not quite be the expected one. Recently, much has been made out of the idea of "state capture" (Hellman 1998; Hellman, Jones, Kaufmann, and Schankerman 2000; Hellman, Jones, and Kaufmann

2000). A frequently heard argument is that the big businessmen who have bought control of the state also want to block the development of small enterprises. Although their purchasing of the state is evident, their negative attitude to small businesses is not. Ukraine managed to liberalize its small entrepreneurs at the height of its oligarchic rule in 1998, and in Russia the oligarchic organization, the Russian Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs, is pushing for liberalization of small enterprise. The explanation is that small enterprises pose no threat to large self-confident corporations, whereas they need multiple domestic subcontractors. Big corporations and microfirms are too different to threaten one another. The largest firms are often exporters, for whom competition between domestic suppliers is helpful, which has been important for the success of companies such as Samsung in South Korea and Toyota in Japan.

A common idea is that small businessmen need to mobilize in support of other small businessmen, but small businessmen rarely defend one another when their numbers are few. One common explanation is the problems of organizing collective action (Olson 1971). However, a more fundamental problem is their actual interest. Businessmen never like competition, and the anticompetitive behavior of local officials benefits those who know how to manage them. In the Johnson, McMillan, and Woodruff survey (2000), total payments to officials as a proportion of sales in Central Europe were 10 percentage points lower than in Russia. At the same time, retail prices in Russia were at least 50 percent higher than in Central Europe (World Bank 2000), suggesting that existing small Russian businessmen were making substantial excess profits thanks to the difficult regulatory situation. Businessmen already operating in the official sector usually complain about their situation when asked, but they rarely organize public campaigns (unless extinction threatens, as in Belarus today). In many countries, the term *business lobby* is synonymous with large business.

Instead, reforms benefiting small businessmen typically come as top-down political measures. Somebody in power realizes that small enterprises are important and begins to look for radical measures to promote them. In Poland, such an understanding arose as early as 1956; in Russia, only around 2000. Breakthrough required that a significant policy community understand the need for affirmative action. However important small enterprises are, they are sufficiently insignificant to be independent of megatrends. They can be promoted when major deregulation appears impossible, but when they gain momentum, they change society.

The promotion of small enterprises has usually developed in steps. Initial measures have not had sufficient effects, but they have aroused negative reactions, which led to a trial-and-error policy. Private enterprise in Poland peaked in 1958 and 1969 before it started rising steadily from the mid-1970s (Åslund 1985, 230–1). The real takeoff, however, occurred when then-minister of finance Leszek Balcerowicz undertook a radical deregulation by decree in late 1989, with remarkable results (Johnson and Loveman 1995). Ukraine and Kyrgyzstan saw an accumulation of deregulation focusing on small enterprises until their takeoff in 1998. In Ukraine, a group of reformist ministers added one reform after another, and in Kyrgyzstan, President Askar Akaev decreed the necessary changes.

Gradual deregulation has not resulted in a linear process. A low number of small enterprises constitutes an underreform trap, and a shock is usually needed to break it. The shock can be general, as in Poland in 1990, or an accumulation of reforms crossing a crucial hurdle, as in Kyrgyzstan and Ukraine.

Rapid entry by many small new entrepreneurs quickly drives down prices, particularly evident in Poland (1990–1991) or in Ukraine (1998–1999), threatening and activating established small entrepreneurs. Initially, established entrepreneurs attack the privileges of the microentrepreneurs

demanding more control of quality and taxes and so on. In Moscow, such a reaction ended a promising start of new small enterprises in the spring of 1992. However, if the initial attack from the business establishment is repelled, prices fall from the high suboptimal level. Realizing that the price change is irreversible, existing small businessmen will instead try to cut costs. Regulatory costs and taxation can be reduced quickly, prompting existing entrepreneurs to demand liberalization and lower taxes at long last. Then, a broad force for liberalization has been created, and the optimal equilibrium can be reached. Rather than being a persistent force for liberalization, established small entrepreneurs must be overwhelmed by both market and politics before they change their policy stance and behavior.

The political versatility of lump-sum taxation is truly amazing. In 1999, even state-dominated Uzbekistan introduced a fixed lump-sum tax for individual entrepreneurs, and these microfirms swiftly became the fastest growing enterprises in the country. By 2001, 428,300 microfirms were already officially registered in Uzbekistan (Jones Luong 2003, 15, 20).

# **TAXATION AND GLASS CEILINGS**

Two remaining issues are tax revenues and "small enterprise traps" or "glass ceilings" in enterprise development.

One argument is that the number of small enterprises may rise, but they rarely exceed a certain size, for instance, about 20 employees in Russia (CEFIR 2002). Yet, the most dangerous borderline is if microenterprises do not enter the official economy, as Hernando De Soto (1989, 2000) has explained so well. Microenterprises on their own can easily comprise one-fifth of GDP, and their legal existence generates the necessary pressures, reducing market prices and therefore inclining established small enterprises to push for less costs from regulation and taxation.

A critical question is how high a lump-sum tax should be and who should set it. This has typically been determined through an iterative trial-and-error process. Gradually, the authorities have lowered the tax because of a lack of entrepreneurial reaction, reduced regulation, and standardized the tax centrally—and suddenly small enterprises have taken off. The best approach includes several elements: The lump-sum tax should be fixed for a long time and made payable only once a year; a lump-sum tax has more credibility if it is set by the national parliament; fewer classes of lump-sum taxes are preferable, but with some addition for each employee; and it is vital that bookkeeping is not required.

The rate should be low, around a few percent of presumed turnover of an average individual craftsman. Russia is now trying with a tax of 6 percent of turnover, and that is clearly too much, leaving the country with few legal microenterprises. The lump-sum tax must be less than the bribe tax to work. In addition, a risk premium must be added, which may be lower or higher in the underground than in the official economy. Lump-sum taxes are always controversial, because they go against the grain of modern taxation, being low and regressive. But their stimulative effect has proven to be huge, and if they are limited to people below a certain level of turnover, they pose no concern to income differentiation.

Lump-sum taxes are always accused of depressing tax revenues. Initially, this is hardly true, because successful lump-sum taxes convince underground entrepreneurs to join the official economy

and economically passive people to start some economic activity, typically individual retail trade and craftsmanship. Bringing more people into the official economy is of great legal and social importance, although higher tax revenues might be unwarranted. Admittedly, many people working in larger organizations may strike out as independent entrepreneurs for tax reasons, but that is true of any economy with favorable conditions for small entrepreneurs and might even be a good thing. This was a big political issue in the early Czech transition (Johnson 1994), and a clampdown on small entrepreneurs there resulted in stifling the economy. Such complaints are now common in Ukraine, but the authorities have wisely refrained from taking action, and Ukraine has seen a substantial decline in corruption (EBRD 2002).

A more specific concern is that lump-sum taxation undermines value-added taxation, but no value-added tax (VAT) can be truly comprehensive. The positive effects of lump-sum taxation appear superior to those of VAT, which does not work well in any post-Soviet economy beyond the Baltics, and small-business men tend to be exempt in most countries.

The typical liberal response to criticism against lump-sum taxes is to introduce a simplified single turnover tax for slightly bigger enterprises, usually for enterprises with up to 10 or 20 employees. Currently, Ukraine has a simplified turnover tax for enterprises with a maximum turnover of \$200,000 of 10 percent including value-added tax (VAT) (Thiessen 2001, 5).

The eventual response to a successful promotion of small enterprises would be deregulation and a lowering of the tax burden, which would not be possible without presumptive taxation, enhancing competition and changing the intellectual paradigm in the direction of the market. The first insight of transition economies must be that the marginal social cost of a higher tax burden is excessive. This is now dawning on many post-Soviet countries, after seven of them have seen their general government revenues fall to less than 25 percent of GDP (EBRD 2002, 62), but even so most transition countries still have high public revenues in relation to their level of economic development. Then, another kind of tax system is required, with broad tax bases and low flat rates. Five post-Soviet countries have now introduced flat income taxes at ever lower rates (Estonia, Georgia, Latvia, Russia, and Ukraine), and more are likely to follow (Åslund 2002). Similarly, corporate tax rates are being reduced, and more deductions are allowed. Estonia has taken the lead by abolishing the profit tax.

Rather than looking at a lump-sum tax as an aberration from normal tax rules, it should be seen as a facilitating device for the introduction of better taxation for the economy as a whole. Admittedly, it took as long as three and a half decades for lump-sum taxes to work through the economic system in the extremely adverse environment of communist Poland, but the country's large small-enterprise sector was a major reason why Poland got its economic policy right so early and why it worked so well.

If taxes are set lower than the corruption tax, the tax system becomes self-policing. Most single entrepreneurs want to be official and legal, and the state should facilitate such endeavors. Simplified taxes are arguably the strongest means against corruption.

Social security often complicates matters, but small-scale individual entrepreneurs should not pay for social security in poor transition countries. The key goal is to tempt them out of the underground economy, and any additional restriction will reduce the number surfacing into the legal realm. Social security remains a mighty incentive to move to normal, higher taxation when businesses have grown larger. Credit is another strong incentive for lump-sum taxpayers to move to formal accounts, because banks require bookkeeping to assess the financial state of the company.

Even so, large-scale lump-sum taxation may be seen as a temporary device to reduce corruption, excessive state intervention, and the underground economy. After these phenomena have been brought under control, which will take several years, lump-sum taxes will be reined in by political pressure. Yet, many individual activities may be subject to lump-sum taxes in any society, notably, minor individual artists, craftsmen, and retailers.

### CONCLUSION

One view of economic development is that it requires investments by a wide range of people from outside the existing social elite. Such investments were key in both the rise of Western Europe after 1500 (Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson 2002a) and in the "Reversal of Fortune," through which relatively poor places became relatively rich during the nineteenth century and subsequently stayed rich (Acemoglu, Johnson, and Robinson 2002b). Investments by "new" entrepreneurs require that they enter the formal economy and put capital at risk. But how can this be encouraged when there is no rule of law, a weak judiciary, and less-than-ideal formal laws (Djankov, La Porta, Lopez-de-Silanes and Shleifer 2002)? This is a first-order issue in much of the world today.

We suggest the logjam can be broken, at least for former communist countries, by combining taxation, regulation, and licensing in one single measure—namely, a low lump-sum tax for small entrepreneurs. Anything that complicates the tax system leads to both more evasion and corruption. Strengthening the small business sector economically and politically is not a panacea, but in many countries today it would be a step in the direction of sustainable development. To cross the critical hurdle that may be around 40 percent of GDP, affirmative action is required to move the economy from a suboptimal equilibrium with few small entrepreneurs to an optimal equilibrium with 50-60 percent of GDP being produced by small enterprises.

There are significant economic benefits to be reaped from such a policy, but the main gains would be political. Encouraging small entrepreneurs into the formal business sector would greatly strengthen them politically and move former communist countries toward more stable, pro-property-rights policies.

## REFERENCES

- Acemoglu, Daron, and Simon Johnson. 2003. Unbundling Institutions: Law vs. Politics. Working paper, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, April.
- Acemoglu, Daron, Simon Johnson, and James A. Robinson. 2001. Colonial Origins of Comparative Development: An Empirical Investigation. *American Economic Review* 91 (5): 1369–1401.
- ———. 2002a. The Rise of Europe: Atlantic Trade, Institutional Change and Economic Growth. NBER Working Paper. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- ——. 2002b. Reversal of Fortune: Geography and Institutions in the Making of the Modern World Income Distribution. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 117 (4): 1231–1294.
- Acemoglu, Daron, Simon Johnson, James A. Robinson, and Yunyong Thaicharoen. 2003.Institutional Causes, Macroeconomic Symptoms: Volatility, Crises, and Growth. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 50 (1): 49–123.
- Åslund, Anders. 1985. Private Enterprise in Eastern Europe: The Non-Agricultural Sector in Poland and the GDR. New York: St. Martin's Press.
- ——. 1995. How Russia Became a Market Economy. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press.
- ——. 2002. Building Capitalism. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Åslund, Anders, Peter Boone, and Simon Johnson. 1996. Escaping the Under-Reform Trap. IMF Staff Papers. Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.
- Center for Economic and Financial Research (CEFIR). 2002. Monitoring of Administrative Barriers to Small Business Growth: Round 1. www.CEFIR.org/papers/admin-eng/admin-eng-frame.html.
- De Soto, Hernando. 1989. *The Other Path: The Invisible Revolution in the Third World.* New York: Harper & Row.
- ——. 2000. The Mystery of Capital: Why Capitalism Triumphs in the West and Fails Everywhere Else. New York: Basic Books.
- Djankov, Simeon, Rafael La Porta, Florencio Lopez-de-Silanes, and Andrei Shleifer. 2002. The Regulation of Entry. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 117 (1): 1–37.
- European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). 1999. Transition Report 1999. London.
- ——. 2002. Transition Report 2002. London.
- Frankel, Jeffrey. 2002. Promoting Better National Institutions: The Role of the IMF. Paper presented at the Third Annual IMF Research Conference, Washington D.C., November 8.
- Friedman, Eric, Simon Johnson, Daniel Kaufmann, and Pablo Zoido-Lobatón. 2000. Dodging the Grabbing Hand: Determinants of Unofficial Activity in 69 Countries. *Journal of Public Economics* 76 (3).
- Hall, Robert E., and Charles I. Jones. 1999. Why Do Some Countries Produce So Much More Output per Worker Than Others? *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 114 (1): 83–116.

- Hellman, Joel S. 1998. Winners Take All: The Politics of Partial Reform in Postcommunist Transitions. *World Politics* 50 (2): 203–34.
- Hellman, Joel S., Geraint Jones, and Daniel Kaufmann. 2000. Seize the State, Seize the Day: State Capture, Corruption and Influence in Transition. Photocopy, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and World Bank.
- Hellman, Joel S., Geraint Jones, Daniel Kaufmann, and Mark Schankerman. 2000. Measuring Governance and State Capture: The Role of Bureaucrats and Firms in Shaping the Business Environment. Photocopy, European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and World Bank.
- International Finance Corporation. 1999. The State of Small Businesses in Ukraine: An IFC Survey of Ukrainian Small Enterprises. Photocopy, Kiev, May.
- Johnson, Simon. 1994. Private Business in Eastern Europe. In *The Transition in Eastern Europe*, ed. Olivier Jean Blanchard, Kenneth A. Froot, and Jeffrey D. Sachs, 245–90. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Johnson, Simon, Daniel Kaufmann, and Andrei Shleifer. 1997a. The Unofficial Economy in Transition. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 27(2): 159–239.
- ———. 1997b. Politics and Entrepreneurship in Transition Economies. Working Paper no. 57. Ann Arbor, MI: William Davidson Institute, University of Michigan, June.
- Johnson, Simon, Daniel Kaufmann, and Pablo Zoido-Lobatón. 1998. Government in Transition: Regulatory Discretion and the Unofficial Economy. *American Economic Review* 88(2): 387–92.
- Johnson, Simon, and Gary W. Loveman. 1995. Starting Over in Eastern Europe: Entrepreneurship and Economic Renewal. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Johnson, Simon, John McMillan, and Christopher Woodruff. 2000. Entrepreneurs and the Ordering of Institutional Reform: Poland, Slovakia, Romania, Russia and Ukraine Compared. *Economics of Transition* 8(1): 1–36.
- ———. 2002. Property Rights and Finance. American Economic Review 92 (5): 1335–1356.
- Jones, Eric L. 1981. *The European Miracle: Environments, Economies, and Geopolitics in the History of Europe and Asia*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Jones Luong, Paula. 2003. Political Obstacles to Economic Reform in Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan, and Tajikistan: Strategies to Move Ahead. Paper presented at the Lucerne Conference of the CIS-7 Initiative, January 20–22.
- Knack, Stephen, and Philip Keefer. 1995. Institutions and Economic Performance: Cross-Country Tests Using Alternative Institutional Measures. *Economics and Politics* 7 (3): 207–228.
- La Porta, Rafael, Florencio Lopez-de-Silanes, Andrei Shleifer, and Robert W. Vishny. 1997. Legal Determinants of External Finance. *Journal of Finance* 52 (3): 1131–1150.
- ——. 1998. Law and Finance. *Journal of Political Economy* 106 (6): 1113–55.
- Locke, Richard. 2002. Building Trust. Unpublished paper, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, October.

- Mauro, Paulo. 1995. Corruption and Growth. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 110(3) (August): 681–713.
- Mohan, Rakesh. 2002. Small-Scale Industry Policy in India: A Critical Evaluation. In *Economic Policy Reforms and the Indian Economy*, ed. Anne O. Krueger, 213–97. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- North, Douglass C. 1981. Structure and Change in Economic History. New York: W.W. Norton.
- North, Douglass C., and Robert P. Thomas. 1973. *The Rise of the Western World: A New Economic History*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Olson, Mancur. 1971. *The Logic of Collective Action: Public Goods and the Theory of Groups.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Olson, Mancur. 1982. The Rise and Decline of Nations: Economic Growth, Stagflation, and Economic Rigidities. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and UN Industrial Development Organization. 1999. Transition Economies Forum on Entrepreneurship and Enterprise Development: Policy Guidelines and Recommendations. Photocopy. www.oecd.org.
- ——. 2002. OECD Economic Surveys: Russian Federation. Paris.
- Putnam, Robert D. 1993. *Making Democracy Work: Civic Traditions in Modern Italy*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Rodrik, Dani, Arvind Subramanian, and Francesco Trebbi. 2002. Institutions Rule: The Primacy of Institutions over Geography and Integration in Economic Development. CID Working Paper no. 97, October 2002.
- Sachs, Jeffrey D. 1993. Poland's Jump to the Market Economy. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Shleifer, Andrei, and Daniel Treisman. 2000. Without a Map: Political Tactics and Economic Reform in Russia. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Thiessen, Ulrich. 2001. Presumptive Taxation for Small Enterprises in Ukraine. Working Paper no. 6, Institute for Economic Research and Policy Consulting, Kiev, March.
- Transparency International. 2002. The Corruption Perceptions Index. www.transparency. de/documents.cpi/index.html.
- Treisman, Daniel S. 2000. The Causes of Corruption: A Cross-National Study. *Journal of Public Economics* 76: 399–457.
- World Bank. 2000. World Development Indicators. CD-ROM. Washington, D.C.
- ———. 2002. Transition: The First Ten Years. Analysis and Lessons for Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.

# **NOTES**

- For a good summary of the debate, see Frankel (2002).
- <sup>2</sup> For one early attempt to "unbundle" institutions, see Acemoglu and Johnson (2003).
- For one economic model in which this is the case, see Friedman, Johnson, Kaufmann, and Zoido-Lobatón (2000). Some of the politics for postcommunist countries are discussed in Åslund, Boone, and Johnson (1996).
- <sup>4</sup> Health and sanitation, fire, construction, and police inspections are moot and often difficult to avoid, but that is quite different from the often almost daily inspections by scores of different government agencies in transition countries.

## ABOUT THE CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT

THE CARNEGIE ENDOWMENT FOR INTERNATIONAL PEACE is a private, nonprofit organization dedicated to advancing cooperation between nations and promoting active international engagement by the United States. Founded in 1910, its work is nonpartisan and dedicated to achieving practical results.

Through research, publishing, convening, and, on occasion, creating new institutions and international networks, Endowment associates shape fresh policy approaches. Their interests span geographic regions and the relations between governments, business, international organizations, and civil society, focusing on the economic, political, and technological forces driving global change.

Through its Carnegie Moscow Center, the Endowment helps to develop a tradition of public policy analysis in the former Soviet Republics and to improve relations between Russia and the United States. The Endowment publishes *Foreign Policy*, one of the world's leading magazines of international politics and economics, which reaches readers in more than 120 countries and in several languages.

For more information about the Carnegie Endowment visit www.ceip.org.

# ABOUT THE RUSSIA AND EURASIA PROGRAM

With a set of distinguished experts in Washington and a talented group of Russian policy analysts at the Carnegie Moscow Center, the Russian and Eurasian Program brings unique resources to the study of policy issues relating to Russia and the other post-Soviet republics. Through research, publishing, seminars, conferences, exchanges, and other public outreach activities, the Program promotes informed public debate and provides insights and knowledge to policy makers in both the United States and Russia on key economic, political, and security topics.

# **Carnegie Papers**

#### 2004

- 43. Small Enterprises and Economic Policy (A. Åslund, S. Johnson)
- 42. Women's Rights and Democracy in the Arab World (M. Ottaway)

## 2003

- 41. Beyond Rule of Law Orthodoxy: The Legal Empowerment Alternative (S. Golub)
- 40. Strengthening Linkages Between U.S. Trade Policy and Environmental Capacity Building (J. Audley, V. Ulmer)
- 39. Is Gradualism Possible? Choosing a Strategy for Promoting Democracy in the Middle East (T. Carothers)
- 38. Verifying North Korean Nuclear Disarmament (J. Wolfsthal, F. McGoldrick, S. Cheon)
- 37. Liberalization versus Democracy: Understanding Arab Political Reform (D. Brumberg)
- 36. The Enlargement of the European Union: Consequences for the CIS Countries (A. Åslund, A. Warner)
- 35. Promoting Democracy in the Middle East: The Problem of U.S. Credibility (M. Ottaway)
- 34. Promoting the Rule of Law Abroad: The Problem of Knowledge (T. Carothers)
- 33. The Other Face of the Islamist Movement (M. Kamel Al-Sayyid)

#### 2002

- 32. China's WTO Commitment on Independent Judicial Review: An Opportunity for Political Reform (V. Mei-Ying Hung)
- 31. Fire in the Hole: Nuclear and Non-Nuclear Options for Counterproliferation (M. Levi)
- 30. Mythmaking in the Rule of Law Orthodoxy (F. Upham)
- 29. Enhancing Nuclear Security in the Counter-Terrorism Struggle: India and Pakistan as a New Region for Cooperation (R. Gottemoeller, R. Longsworth)
- 28. Do Judicial Councils Further Judicial Reform? Lessons from Latin America (L. Hammergren)
- 27. A New Equation: U.S. Policy toward India and Pakistan after September 11 (L. Feinstein, J. Clad, L. Dunn, D. Albright)
- 26. Foreign Direct Investment: Does the Rule of Law Matter? (J. Hewko)
- 25. Politics and Parallel Negotiations: Environment and Trade in the Western Hemisphere (J. Audley, E. Sherwin)
- 24. Russian Basic Science after Ten Years of Transition and Foreign Support (I. Dezhina, L. Graham)

#### 2001

- 23. Revisiting the Twelve Myths of Central Asia (M. B. Olcott)
- 22. A Greener Fast Track: Putting Environmental Protection on the Trade Agenda (J. Audley)
- 21. The Internet and State Control in Authoritarian Regimes: China, Cuba, and the Counterrevolution (S. Kalathil, T. Boas)
- 20. Are Russians Undemocratic? (T. Colton, M. McFaul)
- 19. Pitfalls on the Road to Fiscal Decentralization (V. Tanzi)
- 18. The Myth of Output Collapse after Communism (A. Åslund)
- 17. Breaking the Labor-Trade Deadlock (Carnegie Economic Reform Project and Inter-American Dialogue)

For a complete list of Carnegie Papers, go to www.ceip.org/pubs.